IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James B. Jackson, Jr., Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2020-001006

RECEIVED

Nov 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Sara Gleaton, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Wilton Gleaton, Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg County, A Political Subdivision of the State of South Carolina, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

John E. Parker
William F. Barnes, III
John E. Parker, Jr.
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH, & DETRICK, P.A.
101 Mulberry Street East
Post Office Box 457
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 943-2111
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE MASTER ERR IN FINDING THAT A FALSE STATEMENT HARMING APPELLANT WAS NOT PUBLISHED BY RESPONDENT?**

- II. DID THE MASTER ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DEED FROM RESPONDENT TO JAMES FIELDS WAS NOT DEROGATORY TO APPELLANT'S TITLE?**

- III. DID THE MASTER ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DEED WAS PUBLISHED WITHOUT MALICE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the flawed, delinquent tax sale and subsequent deeds of a property owned by Appellant, Sara Gleaton, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Wilton Gleaton (hereinafter “the Gleatons”), which created a cloud on the title of the property and predictably torpedoed the Gleaton’s chances of profiting from its sale. Wilton Gleaton¹ filed a Complaint against Respondent Orangeburg County, a Political Subdivision of the State of South Carolina (hereinafter “ the County”), on December 9, 2010, in the Orangeburg County Court of Common Pleas, alleging a cause of action for slander of title. (Compl.). On February 3, 2011, the County filed its Answer in which it (1) denied that the delinquent tax sale and deed were derogatory to the Gleaton’s title, (2) denied that the delinquent tax sale and deed were published with malice, and (3) raised section 15-78-60 of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act as an affirmative defense. (Answer).

On December 12, 2013, the action was referred to the Orangeburg County Master-in-Equity by consent of the parties. The matter came up for hearing before the Master on September 17, 2014, with appearances by counsel for Appellant and counsel for Respondent (Hr’g Tr.). Ms. Gleaton, James Fields, and Kathy Henderson, the Director of the Orangeburg County Delinquent Tax Collector at the time of the hearing, offered testimony. Following the hearing the Master issued a “Final Order” finding that: (1) the delinquent tax sale was flawed for failure of proper notice of the tax sale to the Gleatons, (2) the delinquent tax sale was derogatory to the Gleatons’ title to the property, and (3) *the allegations of the Gleatons were true*. (Order, Dec. 31, 2014). The County did not file a motion to reconsider or otherwise challenge this Order.

The Master also ordered and decreed that: (1) the tax sale was flawed and not valid, (2) the issues of liability and damages would be taken under advisement, (3) The Gleatons would

¹ Mr. Gleaton passed away on March 8, 2015.

make further attempts to sell the property within the next four months, and (4) additional relief could be sought by either party to assist with the sale of the property. After the Court's Order, extensive efforts were undertaken by the Gleatons to sell the property; unfortunately, these efforts did not result in the sale of the property. (Order, Dec. 27, 2019 p.1).

On December 2, 2016, the Appellant moved to substitute Ms. Gleaton as Personal Representative of the Estate of Wilton Gleaton as Plaintiff. Appellant also moved for relief and to determine damages. On April 13, 2017, the Master heard testimony and reviewed the parties' submissions again for a final determination on damages.² On the same day, the Master granted Ms. Gleaton's request to be substituted as Plaintiff. On December 27, 2019, the Master issued an Order finding that: (1) the false statement that harmed the Gleatons was not published by the County, (2) the delinquent tax sale was not derogatory to the Gleatons' title, (3) a subsequent quitclaim deed had created the cloud on the title, (4) there was no malice because the County did not intend to cause harm to the Gleatons, (5) there was no malice because the County did not conduct the tax sale with knowledge or reckless disregard of its invalidity, and (6) the County *may* have been immune from liability under section 15-78-60(11). (Order, Dec. 27, 2019). With that, the Master dismissed the Gleatons' claim for damages for slander of title.

On January 7, 2020, counsel for Appellant received notice of the Order, and on January 13, 2020, filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rules 52(b) and 59(e), SCRC. (Mot. to Amend). On June 11, 2020, the Master denied Appellant's motion. (Order, June 11, 2020). The Appellant timely filed her Notice of Appeal on July 10, 2020.

² A transcript of the hearing does not appear to exist, as no court reporter was present for the hearing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In June of 1999, Wilton and Sara Gleaton submitted a successful high bid on property located at 150 Country Acres Road in North, South Carolina. (Compl. ¶¶ 5-6; Hr'g Tr. 8:6-9:15). The Gleatons purchased the property at a foreclosure auction from Bank of America Housing Services ("BOA"). (*Id.*; Compl. ¶¶ 5-6). The property was previously owned by Debra Foxworth and was received by BOA at a public sale authorized by the Orangeburg County Master-in-Equity after it foreclosed on the property. (Compl. ¶ 5; June 16, 1999 Deed). The deed was recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds ("RoD") in Deed Book 764 at Page 91. (*Id.*). The deed was filed with the Orangeburg County Assessor on July 8, 1999. (*Id.*).

The property was transferred from BOA to the Gleatons by a warranty deed on August 4, 1999, which was recorded in the office of the RoD for Orangeburg on August 18, 1999, in Deed Book 771 at Page 51. (Compl. ¶ 6; Dec. 31, 2014 Order; Aug. 4, 1999 Deed). The deed was filed with the County Assessor on August 20, 1999. (*Id.*). A mortgage on the property granted to Orangeburg National Bank by Mr. Gleaton was simultaneously recorded in the office of the RoD on August 18, 1999. (August 17, 1999 Mortgage).

The Gleatons were informed and believed that they were purchasing the subject property free and clear of any encumbrances or delinquent taxes. (Hr'g Tr. 13:14-17; Order, Dec. 31, 2014 p. 2). However, at the time the Gleatons purchased the property, taxes for the years 1998 and 1999 were delinquent, as they had not been paid by Ms. Foxworth. (*Id.*). After the property was transferred to the Gleatons on August 4, 1999, three notices were sent by the Orangeburg County Delinquent Tax Collector, Shelton Sistrunk, to the "Property Owner" informing the recipient that the property had been sold on February 7, 2000 at public auction for the purpose of collecting delinquent taxes. (Correspondence from Orangeburg Cnty. Delinquent Tax Collector

dated Feb. 23, 2000, March 31, 2000, and Jan. 5, 2001). The correspondence also informed the recipient that the property could be redeemed by paying the taxes before February 7, 2001. (*Id.*).

Unfortunately, the notices were never sent to the Gleatons. Instead, they were sent to Ms. Foxworth's address of 1205 Cleckley Blvd., Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115. (*Id.*). The Gleatons' address is 431 Dry Swamp Road, Cordova, South Carolina 29039. (Hr'g Tr. 6:9-15). The notices were returned to the Delinquent Tax Collector each time after attempts at delivery were unsuccessful.³ (Correspondence from Orangeburg Cnty.). Additionally, the first two notices were addressed to "Debra L Foxworth" and not Wilton or Sarah Gleaton. (*Id.*). In the final notice sent on January 5, 2001, Ms. Foxworth's name was lined out and replaced with Mr. Gleaton's name, but the address on the notice was unchanged from Ms. Foxworth's address.

On January 13, 2001, Ms. Gleaton went to the Orangeburg County Courthouse because she had not received any tax receipts for the subject property. (Hr'g Tr. 14:9-12). Upon arrival, an agent of the County gave her a copy of the tax receipts for the year 2000, which she paid for with a check which documented that her proper address was on Dry Swamp Road. (*Id.* at 14:9-15:3; Year 2000 Tax Receipt). Unbeknownst to the Gleatons, on February 7, 2000, the subject property had been auctioned to James Fields, an acquaintance of Mr. Sistrunk's, for \$500.00 through a delinquent tax sale. (May 3, 2001 Deed). The deed conveying the subject property from Mr. Sistrunk as the Delinquent Tax Collector to James Fields was recorded in the office of the RoD for Orangeburg on May 10, 2001. (May 3, 2001 Deed). The deed was recorded in the office of the Assessor on May 19, 2001. (*Id.*). The deed is flawed and wrongfully states that Debra L Foxworth was the record owner of the subject property at the time of its conveyance.

³ One notice was returned because it was deposited in the mail without an address.

(*Id.* at 2; Hr'g Tr. 19:1-4). Instead, at the time the deed was conveyed the Gleatons were the record owners of the property by way of the previous August 4, 1999 deed from BOA.

Unaware of the delinquent tax sale, the Gleatons continued to pay the taxes for the property. (Hr'g Tr. 19:17-23:20). The Gleatons also paid for utility expenses and the upkeep of the property, upon which there was a mobile home into which they invested over \$12,000.00. (*Id.* at 24:11-33:9; Certificate of Title of Vehicle). Sometime in 2006, it was finally brought to the Delinquent Tax Collector's attention that the Gleatons were the record owners of the property at the time it was conveyed to Mr. Fields, notwithstanding the fact that for the entire intervening period (1) the August 1999 deed and mortgage had been recorded with the County conveying the property to the Gleatons and (2) the Gleatons had been continuously paying taxes on the property and receiving notice of the taxes at their Dry Swamp Road Address since 2001. (Hr'g Tr. 85:7-13; August 7, 2006 Deed; Year 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 Tax Receipts).

On August 7, 2006, the County took steps to reverse the tax sale and deed to Mr. Fields. (Hr'g Tr. 86:10-14). The County's position was that the tax sale was not proper, and it intended to correct the situation. (*Id.* at 86:10-16). This consisted of the County performing a quitclaim deed from James Fields to Debra Foxworth as the defaulting taxpayer. (*Id.* at 87:1-4; August 7, 2006 Deed). Kathy Henderson, an employee with the Delinquent Tax Office, testified that the County reversed the tax sale and put it back in Ms. Foxworth's name even though it knew the Gleatons had purchased the property. (Hr'g Tr. 86:18-87:8). The quitclaim deed conveying the property to Ms. Foxworth was signed by Ms. Henderson and other employees of the Delinquent Tax Office. (August 7, 2006 Deed). The Gleatons were not notified of the quitclaim deed and had no idea that these events were occurring. (Hr'g Tr. 25:24-26:3).

In 2007, the Gleadons decided to sell the subject property and entered an exclusive right to sell listing agreement with ERA Wilder Realty. (Hr'g Tr. 23:21-24; Feb. 5, 2007 Listing Agreement). On October 13, 2009, the Gleadons entered an agreement with Connie and Donnie Hall to purchase the property for \$33,000.00. (Order, Dec. 31, 2014; Nov. 17, 2009 Release of Agreement). During the title search process it was discovered that the property had been conveyed to Ms. Foxworth by the quitclaim deed. (Hr'g Tr. 26:17-28:3). The Gleadons met and discussed the situation with the County, after which D'Anne Haydel, the County attorney, wrote to John Shuler, attorney for the Halls, offering to file and prosecute a declaratory judgment on the Halls' behalf seeking declarations that the delinquent tax sale and quitclaim deed were flawed. (Nov. 9, 2009 Correspondence). The Halls ultimately chose not to purchase the property. (Hr'g Tr. 30:13-31:2; Nov. 17, 2009 Release). The Gleadons were subsequently unable to sell the property for the agreed upon price and continued to pay for the taxes and upkeep of the property up until the filing of this action. (Hr'g Tr. 31:7-33:9).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, in an action at law the findings of fact of a trial court must be overturned when there is no evidence that reasonably supports the trial court's findings. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). However, the Court's scope of review also extends to the correction of errors of law. *Wilson v. Gandis*, 430 S.C. 282, 291, 844 S.E.2d 631, 636 (2020). Regardless of the label, the following "finding of facts" that implicate legal errors in that (1) the Master's finding that the delinquent tax sale and deed were not derogatory to Plaintiff's title is contradictory and inconsistent with his prior finding that the sale was derogatory to Plaintiff's title, (2) his finding that the tax sale and deed were not derogatory to Plaintiff's title is inconsistent with South Carolina law, and (3) the Master erroneously based

his conclusion that the County did not act with malice solely on the assumption that the County did not intend to harm the Gleatons or make any statement in reckless disregard of its truth or falsity, when the malice contemplated by an action for slander of title also includes the act of recording an unfounded delinquent tax sale without legal justification. Therefore, the Court should review these issues on appeal *de novo* and without any deference to the Master's findings. *See Wilson v. Gandis*, 430 S.C. 282, 291, 844 S.E.2d 631, 636 (2020) ("Of course, we review *de novo* the trial court's legal conclusions in an action at law.") (citation omitted).

ARGUMENTS

The Master's December 27, 2019 Order dismissing the Gleatons' claim for damages for slander of title incorrectly applies the law to the facts, contains erroneous conclusions of law, and contradicts the law of the case. In their Complaint, the Gleatons alleged a single cause of action against the County for slander of title. In *Huff v. Jennings*, 319 S.C. 142, 148, 459 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct. App. 1995), the Court recognized a cause of action for slander of title stemming from South Carolina's incorporation of the common law of England. To prevail on a claim of slander of title, a plaintiff must prove (1) the publication (2) with malice (3) of a false statement (4) that is derogatory to plaintiff's title (5) that causes special damages (7) as a result of diminished value of property in the eyes of third parties. *Id.* at 149, 459 S.E.2d at 891. The Master's December 17, 2019 Order erroneously concludes that (1) the false statement that harmed the Gleatons was not published by the County, (2) the delinquent tax sale was not derogatory to the Gleatons' title, (3) a subsequent deed by James Fields had created the cloud on the title, (4) there was no malice because the County did not intend to cause harm to the Gleatons, and (5) there was no malice because the County did not conduct the tax sale with knowledge or reckless disregard of its invalidity. (Order, Dec. 27, 2019).

The December 27, 2019 Order does not include specific findings of fact or conclusions of law declaring that the Gleatons did not suffer special damages as a result of the diminished value of the subject property in the eyes of the prospective buyers. However, the Master’s previous “Final Order” of December 31, 2014 found that the Halls “did refuse to purchase said property and mobile home due to said cloud upon the property.”⁴ (Order, Dec. 31, 2014). As explained below, the County did not file a motion to reconsider this Order, and the Master’s finding is now the law of the case. *See infra* Section II. Thus, the issues before the Court are whether the Master’s findings and legal conclusions were in error regarding (1) the publication (2) with malice (3) of a false statement (4) that was derogatory to the Gleatons’ title.

To the extent that the Master’s Order references S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(11) as a potential defense to the Gleaton’s action, the Order states that the County *may* have been immune from liability under section 15-78-60(11). (Order, Dec. 27, 2019 pp. 2-3). Since the Order does not definitively conclude one way or the other if the statute does in fact provide the County with immunity from liability, the issue has not been ruled upon by the Master and is not suitable for review. *See Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (“Generally, an issue must be raised to *and ruled upon by the circuit court* to be preserved.”) (emphasis added). For the following reasons, the Master’s December 27, 2019 Order should be reversed and remanded.

I. THE COUNTY’S DEED TO JAMES FIELDS AND THE SUBSEQUENT QUITCLAIM DEED TO DEBRA FOXWORTH WERE FALSE PUBLICATIONS BY THE COUNTY.

⁴ “Special damages recoverable in a slander of title action are the pecuniary losses that result ‘directly and immediately from the effect of the conduct of third persons, including impairment of vendibility or value cause by disparagement, and the expense of measures reasonably necessary to counteract the publication, including litigation.’” *Huff*, 319 S.C. at 150-51, 459 S.E.2d at 892 (quoting 50 Am.Jur.2d *Libel & Slander* § 560).

The Master's December 27, 2019 Order erroneously concludes that "[t]he slanderous statement made in this case was the deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth" and that the statement "was actually made by Mr. Fields." (Order, Dec. 27, 2019). However, both the deed to Mr. Fields and the quitclaim deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth were false publications by the County which harmed the Gleadons. "When reviewing a master-in-equity's judgment made in an action at law, the appellate court will not disturb the master's findings of fact unless the findings are found to be without evidence reasonably supporting them." *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 562, 772 S.E.2d 882, 887 (Ct. App. 2015). There is no evidence in the record reasonably supporting that notion that the County did not publish the invalid delinquent tax deed and the subsequent invalid quitclaim deed, which are both false statements.

A. The deed from the County to Mr. Fields was false, invalid, and recorded with the Register of Deeds for Orangeburg.

"Wrongfully recording an unfounded claim against the property of another generally is actionable as slander of title." *Huff*, 319 S.C. at 149, 459 S.E.2d at 891 (citation omitted). The filing or recording of an invalid deed constitutes the publication of a false statement if the County should have known that it was invalid. *See id.* As an initial matter, the Master has previously found that the tax sale was flawed, and this finding was never challenged by the County. (Order, Dec. 31, 2014; Order, Dec. 27, 2019).

The Gleadons' deed and mortgage were recorded with the RoD for Orangeburg and the Assessor in August of 1999, contrary to the Master's Dec. 27, 2019 finding that at no time did the County learn that the Gleadons had acquired the property. (Order, Dec. 27, 2019 p. 2). Additionally, a 2000 tax receipt prior to the County's deed to Mr. Fields is made out to Wilton Gleadon. (Year 2000 Tax Receipt). Since proper notice was never given to the Gleadons, the tax

sale and subsequent deed were invalid, and the deed to Mr. Fields was unfounded at the time of its recording. Ms. Henderson testified that there was a flaw with the tax sale. (Hr'g Tr. 81:18-20). Regardless, the Master has previously ruled that the delinquent tax sale was flawed, and this ruling has not been challenged by the County.

Additionally, the deed from the County to Mr. Fields contains a false statement. The deed states that Debra Foxworth is the owner of record of the subject property, when the Gleatons were undisputedly the record owners of the property at the time the deed to Mr. Fields was signed and recorded. The deed was signed by Mr. Sistrunk in his authority as Delinquent Tax Collector as well as two additional employees of the County. (Hr'g Tr. 87:17-24; May 3, 2001 Deed). The record is absolutely void of any evidence that the County did not publish the invalid delinquent tax deed conveying title to the Gleatons' property to Mr. Fields.

The publication of the deed from Mr. Sistrunk to Mr. Fields is in itself actionable as slander of title. However, the Master's December 27, 2019 Order erroneously finds that "[t]he slanderous statement made in this case was the [subsequent] deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth. This statement was actually made by Mr. Fields." (Order, Dec. 27, 2019 p. 3). The Master's finding is completely unsupported by the evidence for three reasons. First, the deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth would never have happened but for the County's flawed delinquent tax sale and deed from Mr. Sistrunk to Mr. Fields. *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 400, 477 S.E.2d 715, 721 (Ct. App. 1996) (Finding that causation in fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred "but for" the defendant's conduct). Second, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that the deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth was not a third party's independent intervening act but an act of the County itself. *See Mellen v. Lane*, 377 S.C. 261, 283, 659 S.E.2d 236, 247 (Ct. App. 2008) ("The test by which the original actor's conduct

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