THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 28 2021

APPEAL FROM ORANGEGURG COUNTY
James B. Jackson, Jr., Master-in-Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2020-001006
Case No. 2010-CP-38-1749

Sara Gleaton, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Wilton Gleaton, Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg County, a Political Subdivision
of the State of South Carolina, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Jerrod A. Anderson
ANDERSON LAW OFFICE, P.A.
Post Office Box 2629
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29116
(803) 536-4751

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

However, in the case at bar, the County is not charged with the failure to perform a ministerial act that is separate and distinct from assessing, collecting, or enforcing tax laws against a taxpayer. Instead, the County is charged with the delinquent tax collector’s failure to give sufficient notice under the Section 12-51-40(a) because at the time of the tax sale on February 7, 2000, the Appellant’s decedent (Wilton Gleaton) had purchased the property from the defaulting taxpayer (Debra Foxworth). Section 12-51-40 expressly authorizes the delinquent tax collector “to collect delinquent taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, requiring him to levy the execution by distress and sale of the defaulting taxpayer’s estate, real or personal, or both, or property transferred by the defaulting taxpayer, the value of which generated all or part of the tax, to satisfy the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-40.

Consequently, the requirement to provide sufficient notice is part of the process for the “collection of taxes” and the “enforcement of tax laws,” which fall within the scope of Section 15-78-60(11). The same is true for the subsequent issuance of a tax deed to James Fields as well as the delinquent tax collector’s attempt to reverse the sale by having Fields quitclaim deed the property back to the defaulting taxpayer. While errors were made, as the Master found, those errors occurred as part of the process to collect delinquent taxes. This is precisely the purpose of Section 15-78-60(11) immunity, as this Court recognized in *H&K*, which bars the recovery of damages “because of a faulty tax sale.” *H&K*, 532 S.E.2d at 619.

In sum, the Master’s reliance on Section 15-78-60(11) immunity as one basis for entering judgment in favor of the County and denying monetary relief to the Appellant is correct. Thus, notwithstanding whether there may be legitimate confusion or not stemming from the Master’s use of the word “may,” the record clearly reflects that the County is entitled to Section 15-78-60(11) immunity, and on that basis, the judgment in favor of the County should be affirmed.

II. The Appellant is incorrect in her arguments that the Master-in-Equity was constrained by the “law of the case” doctrine or the lack of an immediate appeal by the County to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in his 2019 Order that reconsidered or are “inconsistent” with rulings made in the 2014 Order.

Throughout her opening brief, the Appellant continually takes the erroneous position that the Order filed December 31, 2014, establishes the “law of the case” and was binding on the Master with respect to his ultimate rulings as set forth in the Order filed December 27, 2019.

Although the 2014 Order was captioned as “Final Order,” that is a misnomer. The 2014 Order was not a “final order” as a matter of law and did not establish the law of the case.⁴

As an initial error, the Appellant contends that Orangeburg County was bound by the rulings in the 2014 Order because it did not file an immediate appeal after the order was issued. But clearly, that 2014 Order is interlocutory and was not subject to immediate appeal. “As a general rule, only final judgments are appealable.” *Ex parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005). As the Supreme Court has explained “[a]ny judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final.” *Id.* See also, *Culbertson v. Clemens*, 322 S.C. 20, 471 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1996). A cursory review of the 2014 Order clearly shows that it is interlocutory and not a final, appealable order. In that order, the Master-in-Equity ruled that “the tax sale was flawed and not valid”; yet he also ruled that “the court will take under advisory the issue of liability and damage to the Plaintiff.” (Order I, p. 3). The Master gave the Appellant’s decedent four months to sell the property and “left open” the “issue of additional relief sought by either party to help with the sale of property.” (Order I, p. 3). Thus, the Master explicitly did not decide the issues of liability or damages, but instead granted only intermediate declaratory relief to the effect that the tax sale was flawed. Thus, substantial issues – including the County’s liability and the Appellant’s entitlement to damages – remained for later adjudication, thereby rendering the 2014 Order as being interlocutory.

⁴ In *Thornton v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 391 S.C. 297, 705 S.E.2d 475 (Ct. App. 2011), this Court explained that “a narrow construction of section 14-3-330(2)(c) requires us to focus on the effect of the order, not the label given to the motion or to the order granting it.” 705 S.E.2d at 478. Citing other cases, this Court also noted that “[o]ur courts have previously looked beyond the labels on motions and orders to discern their actual effect for purposes of appealability.” *Id.*, n.6.

As an additional error, the Appellant states throughout her opening brief, that the Master was bound by his rulings in the 2014 interlocutory order. That is obviously incorrect. South Carolina law recognizes that “[t]he trial court interlocutory orders are amendable.” *Johnston v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 61, 437 S.E.2d 45, 47 (1993). In fact, trial judges are always free to reconsider earlier rulings and change their mind prior to entering final judgment. Thus, contrary to the Appellant’s position, the Master’s 2019 Order was not erroneously “inconsistent” with his 2014 Order. The Master was free to change his mind on any issue addressed by the interlocutory order. This Court recognized this very point in *Abu_Shawareb v. South Carolina State University*, 364 S.C. 358, 613 S.E.2d 757 (Ct. App. 2005), where this Court writes:

[Plaintiff] also contends the trial court’s denial of the university’s summary judgment motion was inconsistent with its grant of the university’s JNOV motion, because the former ruling was based on a finding the release was ambiguous while the latter found the release and order were clear. *It is not error for the trial court to change its mind* and reconsider a motion for summary judgment.

613 S.E.2d at 760. (Emphasis added). That is also true with respect to any other interlocutory orders which are always “amendable” per the Supreme Court in *Johnston*. *See also, PPG Industries, Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Center, Inc.*, 297 S.C. 176, 375 S.E.2d 331, 335 (Ct. App. 1998) (“[t]he trial judge, under our procedure, is afforded many opportunities to change his mind”).

Finally, the Appellant’s reliance on the “law of the case” doctrine in an attempt to restrict the Master’s decision-making in the 2019 Order is equally flawed. In other words, the Appellant’s arguments to the effect that the 2014 Order established the law of the case is simply incorrect. In *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (2013), the Supreme Court explained as follows:

The doctrine of the law of the case applies to an order or ruling which finally determines a substantial right. ... Ordinarily an interlocutory order which merely decides some point or matter essential to the progress of the cause, collateral to the issues in the case, is not binding as the law of the case, and *may be reconsidered and corrected by the court before entering a final order on the merits.*

743 S.E.2d at 785, *citing Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 382 S.E.2d 471, 472 (Ct. App. 1989).
(Emphasis added).

In sum, for each of these reasons, the Master was not constrained by the 2014 Order in making the rulings on liability and damages in his 2019 Order. The 2014 Order was clearly interlocutory, was subject to reconsideration, and did not establish the law of the case. Likewise, the County was not bound by the rulings in the 2014 Order but was free to pursue all legal and factual defenses available. Consequently, all arguments by the Appellant that the 2019 Order is erroneously “inconsistent” with the 2014 Order must be rejected. No error of law was committed by the Master when he addressed the remaining issues of liability and damages in his 2019 Order, even if there may be “inconsistencies” with the prior order.

III. The Master-in-Equity correctly ruled that the Appellant failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence that any false statement in derogation of the Appellant’s property interests was made with the requisite malice.

This action was tried by the Master-in-Equity and, as a result, was non-jury. The standard of review for an action at law on appeal of a case tried without a jury requires the appellate court to not disturb the judge’s findings of fact unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). This standard of review requires an affirmance of the judgment entered below.

In *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 699 S.E.2d 699 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court explained that a plaintiff “cannot transform an unsupported proposition of law into a statement of fact merely by stating that they are informed and believe it to be so.” 699 S.E.2d at 705. The converse of that is equally true. A party cannot transform an issue of fact into a question of law in order to obtain a *de novo* standard of review. The Appellant appears to attempt such a transformation where she argues that “‘finding of facts [sic] ... implicate legal errors.” See, Appellant’s Brief, p. 7. Findings of fact, however, are clearly subject to the “any evidence” standard of review.

The sole cause of action brought by the Appellant was for slander of title. No negligence claim was alleged by the Appellant nor adjudicated by the Master. “The term ‘slander of title’ is defined as a false and malicious statement, oral or written, made in disparagement of a person’s title to real or personal property, causing him injury.” *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 567 S.E.2d 881, 890 (Ct. App. 2002). To establish slander of title, the plaintiff must show: “(1) the publication of (2) a false statement (3) derogatory to plaintiff’s title (4) with malice (5) causing special damages (6) as a result of diminished value in the eyes of third parties.” *Huff v. Jennings*, 319 S.C. 142, 459 S.E.2d 886, 889 (Ct. App. 1995).

In his 2019 Order, the Master focused on the element of malice. On that issue, the Master writes:

The Court finds that there was no malice on behalf of the Defendant in this case. Clearly, the Defendant made no publication that was intended to cause harm to the Plaintiff, nor was any statement made that was knowingly false or in reckless disregard of its truth or falsity. The Defendant’s efforts were focused on collecting taxes for which they may be immune from liability. The slanderous statement made in this case was the deed from Mr. Fields to Ms. Foxworth. This statement was actually made by Mr. Fields. This action was taken at the request of the Defendant to return the property to the defaulting taxpayer, not to

damage the Plaintiff.

(Order II, pp. 2-3). (Citation omitted).

In challenging that finding of fact on appeal, the Appellant raises several issues that were not pled nor raised below. For example, the Appellant argues that the Master did not apply the proper definition of “malice” but rather conflated “common law malice” from defamation cases with the malice required for slander of title, which the Master did not do. In *Huff, supra*, the Supreme Court explained that “[i]n slander of title actions, the malice requirement may be satisfied by showing the publication was made in reckless or wanton disregard to the rights of another, or without legal justification.” 459 S.E.2d at 891. Under our jurisprudence, “[r]ecklessness implies the doing of a negligent act knowingly,” and “wanton” means “the conscious failure to exercise due care.” *Yaun v. Baldrige*, 243 S.C. 414, 134 S.E.2d 248, 251 (1964). They require a “consciousness of wrongdoing.” *Rogers v. Florence Printing Co.*, 233 S.C. 567, 106 S.E.2d 258, 263 (1958). In that regard, the Master found no intent by the County personnel to cause harm to the Appellant. The Master also appears to rely in part on the well-accepted constitutional malice standard under *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, which requires proof that the statement was made “with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not.” *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653, 666 (2006), citing *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 256, 279-280 (1964). The Master found that the alleged publication was not knowingly false or in reckless disregard of its truth or falsity. That was a reasonable inference to be drawn from the evidence presented and should be affirmed. There was evidence from which the Master could conclude that the County was not consciously indifferent to the Appellant’s rights or her decedent’s rights.

The Appellant also argues that the Master failed to address whether the publication was

made “without legal justification.” That is not the case. The Master found that “the property taxes had not been paid which gave the Defendant the right to sell the property for non-payment of taxes” and that “Defendant’s efforts were focused on collecting taxes.” (Order II, pp. 2-3). That finding is supported by the trial record which includes evidence that the 1998 taxes were not paid by the defaulting taxpayer or by the Appellant after purchase. (Tr. 44:15 – 45:17; 81:10-17).

Nonetheless, it should also be noted that the Appellant pled the “malice” element in her Complaint as follows: “Defendant knew the statement regarding the validity of the title to be false, or acted with reckless disregard to its falsity.” *See*, Complaint, ¶ 18. (R. ____). Thus, the Master was simply ruling based on the Appellant’s allegations which incidentally incorporate the *New York Times* standard. Because the Appellant did not allege that the publication was “without legal justification,” there was no need for the Master to reach that unpled issue. Furthermore, to the extent that the Appellant intended to pursue the absence of “legal justification” basis for showing malice, she did not request the Master in her Rule 52(b) motion to address this issue. Instead, it is raised for the first time on appeal, and hence, is not properly preserved for appellate review. *See, Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). In short, if this Court concludes that the Master failed to consider or address the absence of “legal justification” basis for showing malice, that is not an issue preserved for appellate review and cannot serve as a basis for reversal.

The same is true with respect to the Appellant’s new argument that malice should be presumed. The Appellant never argued in the court below that the evidence gives rise to a

presumption of malice. That issue was not made in any pleading, at trial, nor in the Rule 52(b) motion. Hence, that issue is not preserved for appellate review. At any rate, these issues also fail on the merits because the Master did find that there was a legal justification that arose from the non-payment of the 1998 taxes which allowed for action to be taken to collect those taxes, including the sale of the property. The fact that errors were made – including a lack of sufficient notice to an owner of record as required by Section 12-51-40(a) -- does not negate the legal justification for engaging in the collection process as allowed by law. In fact, the Appellant takes unfair liberties with reciting the Master’s finding in the 2014 Order. The Appellant claims that the “law of the case” holds that “the tax sale was flawed, invalid, and without a legal basis.” *See*, Appellant’s Brief, p. 16. In actuality, the 2014 Order – which is not the law of the case – states that “the tax sale was flawed and not valid.” (Order I, p. 3). There was no ruling by the Master that the tax sale was “without a legal basis.”

In sum, the issue of malice presents a question of fact. There is sufficient evidence in the record from which the Master, as the fact finder, could readily conclude that any false statement in derogation to the Appellant’s title was not made by the County personnel with the requisite malice, including the reckless or wanton disregard to the rights of the Appellant. Given the standard of review in a non-jury action, the judgment in the favor of the County should be affirmed on this basis as well.